3D PRINTING SCAFFOLDS FOR BREAST TISSUE ENGINEERING APPLICATIONS

A Thesis Submitted to the Department of Materials Science and Engineering African University of Science and Technology, Abuja

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

By

ALEX, AZUKA AMAECHI (ID 40723)



African University of Science and Technology www.aust.edu.ng

P.M.B 681, Garki, Abuja F.C.T Nigeria

April, 2021

APPROVAL PAGE

3D PRINTING SCAFFOLDS FOR BREAST TISSUE ENGINEERING APPLICATIONS

By

ALEX, AZUKA AMAECHI

A THESIS APPROVED BY THE DEPARTMENT MATERIALS SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING

RECOMMENDED

Supervisor, Prof. Wole Soboyejo

.....

Co-supervisor; Dr Shola Odusanya

.....

Prof. A. P. Onwualu

Head, Dept. of Materials Science and Engineering

Approved:

Chief Academic Officer

Date.....

CERTIFICATION

This is to certify that the thesis titled "*3D Printing Scaffolds for Breast Tissue Engineering Applications*" submitted to the Department of Materials Science and Engineering in the African University of Science and Technology (AUST), Abuja, Nigeria for the award of the Master's degree is a record of original research carried out by *Alex, Azuka Amaechi*

ABSTRACT

Recently, the field of Tissue Engineering has explored the potential for the regeneration of many organs and tissues in the human body. The aim of this study applied to breast tissue engineering is to overcome the major criticalities practiced with conventional therapies (mastectomy, breast conserving therapy, and lipofilling). This Thesis is focused on the fabrication of biodegradable 3D implantable Scaffolds cultured with the breast cells for regeneration of damaged tissues. Poly Lactic Acid (PLA) is the polymer used for this study. In this work, the degradation of the 3D PLA Scaffolds immersed in Simulated Body Fluid (SBF). The mechanical properties of the scaffolds are also measured and after culturing with mammary breast cells. From the study, it was observed that the PLA scaffolds degrade over time, as the number of weeks of exposure increase. The mechanical properties before and after culturing with the breast cells showed a significant increase in their tensile strength and Young's modulus. However, the tensile strength and elastic modulus after culturing was 3.42 and 6.10 MPa for day 0 and 7 and 234.67 and 337.33 MPa for day 0 and 7, respectively.

KEYWORDS: Biomaterials, tissue engineering, breast cancer, scaffold, simulated body fluid, poly lactic acid, mechanical properties, Young's Modulus.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to God Almighty for his grace and strength, this research was a huge success because of his divine mercy, love and grace upon my life. To my amiable supervisor Prof Wole Soboyejo, for his immerse impact throughout my research work. For his directives, encouragement, guidance and corrections, this project work would not have been close to completion. I am very grateful to you. To Dr Ali Salifu for his assistance and guidance to follow during the process of this research work and to Madam Theresa Ezenwafor for always making sure I am up to date, thank you so much. I want to express my sincere gratitude to the Head of Department Prof. P. A. Onwualu, not only for his fatherly advice and support throughout the duration of this project, but also for his endless contributions to my success in academics.

To the entire academic and non-academic staff of the African University of Science and Technology, I am grateful for your contribution towards my academic background and for your support throughout my duration of struggle.

Finally, I will not forget my lovely parents, Late Chief. Alex Amaechi and Mrs. Agnes Amaechi, for their prayers and unending love, caring and support, I am forever indebted to them. To my siblings, Collins Amaechi, Chibuike Amaechi, Victor Amaechi, Fidelis Amaechi, Chukuwdi Amaechi, Godspower King and Kenechukwu King. Thank you for all the love and care. To my friends and colleagues, Ayuk Colbert, Gono, Elly, Darius, who in one way or the other directly or indirectly contributed to the success of this project work, I say a big a big thank you.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my Daddy G.O His Holiness The Most Hon. Dr. Rev. KING, who endowed me with the grace and strength to accomplish this task.

Contents

CHAPTER	3 ONE
1.0	Introduction1
1.1	Background to the Study1
1.2	Breast Tissue Engineering2
1.3	Statement of Problem
1.4	Aim and Objective of the Study4
1.5	Scope of Study4
1.6	Organization of this Thesis4
CHAPTER	
2.0	Literature Review
2.1	Current approaches aimed at Regeneration of Mammary Breast Tissue
2.2	Prosthetic implant-based regeneration6
2.3	Anatomy & Physiology of the Breast6
2.4	Cellular Breast Regeneration7
2.5	Mechanical Properties of Normal Breast7
2.5	5.1 Basic Concepts
2.6	Engineering Challenges
2.0	6.1 Squared surface model
2.0	6.2 Scaffold design and porosity9
2.0	6.3 Scaffold Manufacturing9
2.0	6.4 Scaffolds requirement and fabrication methods10
2.0	6.5 Scaffolds Fabrication Methods10
2.7	
2.9	Formation of tissue constructs11

	2.9.1	Polyme	r in Tissues Engineering	12
	2.9.2	Natural	Polymer	12
	2.9.3	Synthet	tic Polymer	13
	2.9.4	Biodeg	radable Polymer	13
	2.9.5	Physioc	chemical Properties of PLA	14
	2.9.6	Hydrol	ysis of PLA	15
	2.9.7	Rate of	Degradation	16
	2.9.8	Effect of	of pH	16
	2.10	Cell Culture	2	16
	2.11	Key factors	of scaffolds affecting cell performance	16
	2.1	1.1 Cell res	sponses on surface chemistry of tissue engineering scaffolds	17
	2.	11.1.2	Surface hydrophobicity.	
	2.	11.1.3	Surface charge	
	2.	11.1.4	Protein adsorption	18
	2.	11.1.5	Surface topography	18
	2.	11.1.6	Surface softness and stiffness	18
	2.	11.1.7	3D architecture	19
	2.12	Microenvir	onment	19
	2.13	Cell Adhesi	on	20
	2.14	Homeostas	is	20
	2.15	Immunohis	tochemistry	21
	2.16	Vascularisa	tion	21
	2.17	Regenerati	ve Therapies	21
СНА	APTER TI	- HREE	·	23
3	.0 N	laterials and	l Methods	
-	3.1	Introductio	n	
	3.2	Materials		22
	3.2			23

3.2.1	Scaffold design	23
3.2.2	Scaffold fabrication	24
3.3 Ch	haracterization of Samples	25
3.3.1	Morphology Analysis	25
3.3.2	Water Adsorption	25
3.3.3	Mechanical properties of the 3D-scaffolds	26
3.3.4	Degradation Studies of PLA Scaffold	26
3.3.5	Weight loss	26
3.3.6	Cell cultures	27
CHAPTER FOU	IR	28
4.0 Resu	ults and Discussion	28
4.1 In	itroduction	28
4.2 Ch	haracterization result	28
4.2.1	Surface morphology	28
4.2.2	Effect of 3D scaffold on porous characterizations	29
4.2.3	Standard curves	29
4.2.4	Absorbance versus Protein Concentration	29
4.2.5	Fluorescence Microscopy	31
4.2.6	Weight loss versus time	32
4.2.7	Mechanical properties of 3D Scaffolds	32
4.2.8	Tensile Strength against Number of Weeks in SBF	32
4.2.9	Tensile Strength against Number of Days with cultured cells	33
CHAPTER FIVE		36
5.0 Conc	clusion	36
5.1 Futu	ıre work	36
REFERENCES		337

List of Tables

Table II. Pri	inting Processin	g Parameters	Used2	4
---------------	------------------	--------------	-------	---

List of Figures

Figure 1.1; the breast of a patient dia	gnosed with breast cancer	3
Figure 2.1; Scaffold design; the porosi	ity of ST1 scaffold was expected around 30% and	d intended diameter
of the filament is 0.35 mm and pore s	ize 0.35 mm	8
Figure 2.2; schematic showing the che	emical structure of some main biodegragradable	e polymer used in
biomedicine		14
Figure 2.3; the hydrolysis of PLA		15
Figure 3.1; (A) Lulzbot TAZ 3D printer,	, (B) Printed Scaffold	24
Figure 3.2; Isotemp 2341 water bath.		26
Figure4.1; ; SEM images showing (a)w	veek 0 immersing in SBF, (b) week 8 of immersing	g in SBF, (c) Day 0 of
scaffold cultured with the cells, (d) Da	ay 7 of scaffold cultured with cells, (e) EDX image	e of scaffold
immersed in SBF, (f) no cells		
Figure 4.2; gives the absorbance and	protein concentration of cell growth	
Figure 4.3; gives (a) % Alamar Blue Re	duction against number of days of scaffolds em	bedded with cells, (b)
Protein Concentration against numbe	er of days of scaffolds embedded with cells	
Figure 4.4; Fluorescence micrograph:	(C) day 0, (D) day 7	
Figure 4.5; weight of scaffolds against	t number of	
Weeks	4Figure 4.6; (A) Tensile strength a	gainst number of
weeks, (b) Young's Modulus against	number of weeks	
Figure 4.7; (C) Tensile strength agains	t number of Days, (D) Young's Modulus against	number of Days 34
Figure 4.8; showing the Stress-Strain	curves for the Scaffolds seeded with the breast o	cells35

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 Introduction

Tissue engineering involves combining scaffolds, cells, and biologically active molecules into functional tissues such as bones, breast, cartilages, skin etc. The goal of tissue engineering is to assemble functional constructs that restore, maintain, or improve damaged tissues or whole organs ^[1]. TE has a wide scope of studies with potentials to offer early detection of pathological conditions, reduce the severity of therapy and result in an improved clinical outcome for the patient. This can lead to discovery of newer approaches for promotion of health and longevity with sustainable improvement in the quality of human life, with a reduction in the societal and economic cost associated with healthcare and life expectancy ^[2]. It is an important field of regenerative medicine for tissue repair (after damaged caused by a disease or an accident, for example). They only need the correct medium that will provide the desired stimulation to guided differentiation, a microenvironment with adequate temperature, pH, and a three-dimensional structure to provide the right microenvironment for cell proliferation, growth, and differentiation (scaffold)^[3]. Furthermore, the designed physicochemical properties, morphology and degradation kinetics of Tissue Engineered Constructs (TEC) must be carefully measured. However, studies over the last 20 years by leading scientists and research laboratories in this field have served to clarify our understanding of the key factors associated with the full extent of TE's therapeutic vision. Particular challenges of the current TE involving large volume prefabricated scaffolds include the inability to mimic the cellular organization of natural tissues, upscale fabrication methods to the economically viable scale necessary for clinical application.

1.1 Background to the Study

The basic concept underlying tissue engineering (TE) is the use of a combination of cells, biomaterials (scaffolds) and physico-chemical factors to improve or replace a biological organ that are damaged in the human body. Cells are the building blocks of tissue, and tissues are the basic unit of function in the body. Generally, groups of cells make and secrete their own support structures, called extra-cellular matrix. This scaffold does not just support the cells; but also acts as a relay station for various signaling molecules. . Each signal can start a series of responses that will determine what happens to the cell by understudying

how these individual cells respond to signals, interact with their environment, and form into tissues and organisms. Researchers have been able to influence these processes to mend damaged tissues or even create new ones. Thus, cells receive messages from many sources that become available from the local environment. The process often starts with building a scaffold from a wide set of possible sources, from natural to synthetic. Once scaffolds are created and the environment is right, cells with or without a "combination" of growth factors introduced, a tissue will generate. In some cases, the cells, scaffolds, and growth factors are all mixed together at once, allowing the tissue to "self-assemble."

Another method to regenerate new tissue is by making use of existing scaffold. The cells of a donor organ are isolated and are used to grow new ones. This process has been used to bioengineer heart, liver, lung, breast, ear, bone and kidney tissue. This approach has posed a great impact on improving regenerative medicine as an alternative medicine by using scaffolding from human tissue of patient's own cells to make specific organs that would not be rejected by the immune system thereby mimicking the host tissue ^{[3].} Poly (α -hydroxyacids) are bioresorbable synthetic polymers broadly known, studied and successfully employed as tissue engineering scaffolds for cell transplantation and tissue regeneration. The homopolymers poly glycolic acid (PGA) and poly lactic acid (PLA) and their copolymers (PLGA), are all poly (α -hydroxyacids) [5]. These polymers degrade by hydrolysis and the degradation rate of these polymers depends on configuration structure, molecular weight ratio, exposed surface area, crystallinity, stresses, site of implantation, and in the case of copolymers, the ratio of the hydroxy acid monomers. They demonstrate an excellent kind of mechanical properties and can be fabricated using various processing techniques as molding, extrusion, solvent casting and spin casting^{[4].} Biocompatibility is a key factor in the long and short term success of all implants; for biodegradable devices it is important that both the implant and its degradation products are biocompatible and non-toxic. This is why PLA, PGA and copolymers have been widely studied and several publications reported in-vitro and in-vivo studies of biocompatibility.

1.2 Breast Tissue Engineering

The breasts are medically known as the mammary glands made up of lobules, milk-producing glandular structures, and a system of ducts that transport milk to the nipple. Over the decade, the 21st century, impetus has been gradually growing towards TE-based regeneration of breast tissue post-mastectomy or Lumpectomy. Breast cancer is the most frequent cancer among women with an estimation of 1.67 million of new cases diagnosed worldwide in 2012 resulting in 522,000 deaths. ^[5] Due to their large number of clinical occurrences, breast tissue regeneration following lumpectomy (that is, partial removal of breast

tissue) or mastectomy (total removal of the breast) has become an alternative for women to regain back their confident. Most women tend to be deformed in size and shape of the breast hence, making tissue engineering a key to regenerate breast tissue using biodegradable and biocompatible scaffolds to help repair damaged tissues as a result of the surgery. Research has demonstrated that many women who have had a mastectomy or lumpectomy tend to suffer from a syndrome "marked by anxiety, insomnia, depressive attitudes, occasional ideas of suicide, and feelings of shame and value" ^[6]. The concept of breast tissue regeneration due to mastectomy has been established to ease the sense of damage and suffering that women experience after surgery. Thus, it has become a valuable alternative to any woman undergoing surgery for breast cancer or any other breast ailment.



Figure 1.1; the breast of a patient diagnosed with breast cancer

1.3 Statement of Problem

Breast cancer and congenital defects or damage are serious problems that women have had to manage over time. There is also a need to regrow breast tissue, following operations to remove breast cancer tissue at different stages of development. This can be addressed by implanting resorbable 3D printed scaffolds with geometries that can be printed to occupy the space left behind after breast tissue resection. The scaffolds can be used to regenerate breast tissue with comparable mechanical properties to normal breast tissue.

1.4 Aim and Objective of the Study

- To develop resorbable 3D Printed PLA Scaffolds for the regeneration of breast tissue from cultured with non-tumorigenic mammary breast cells.
- > To study the initial stages of degradation of PLA scaffolds in Simulated Body Fluid
- To study the cell/surface interactions during the initial stages of exposure of 3D Printed PLA scaffolds to mammary breast cells
- To study the effects of simulated body fluid and cell/surface interactions on the mechanical properties of 3D Printed PLA scaffolds

1.5 Scope of Study

This study explores the possibility of regeneration of the mammary breast tissue from biodegradable breast scaffolds that are produced from PLA that is cultured with normal mammary breast cells.

1.6 Organization of Thesis

The five chapters in this thesis are presented in the following order:

- Chapter 1 Introduction
- Chapter 2 Literature Review
- Chapter 3 Materials and Methods
- Chapter 4 Results and Discussion
- Chapter 5 Conclusions and Future Work

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 Literature Review

2.1 Current Approaches aimed at Regeneration of Mammary Breast Tissue

Over the last 10 years, the field of Tissue Engineering has improved significantly following the potentials for regeneration of many organs and tissues in the human body. Polymer scaffolds, tissue cells and

stimulation factors has been enormously adopted as an attractive therapeutic treatment for tissue defects. In recent years, biodegradable polymer have been to fabricate tissue scaffolds such PLA, PCL, PLGA etc due to their excellent properties such as absorbabilities, non-toxicity and biocompatibilities. PLA has also been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration as a biodegradable and biocompatible used for the human body. Biocompatible materials such as metals, ceramics and polymers have been extensively used for surgical implantation. However, metals and ceramics are not biodegradable and their processability is very limited. Polymer materials have received increasing attention and been widely used for tissue engineering because of easy control over biodegradability and processability ^[7, 8, 9]. Bioabsorbable polymers are preferred candidates for developing therapeutic devices such as temporary prostheses, three-dimensional porous structures as scaffolds for tissue engineering and as controlled/sustained release drug delivery vehicles. ^[5] Synthetic biodegradable poly-lactones such as poly-lactic acid (PLA), poly-glycolic acid (PGA), and poly-caprolactone (PCL) as well as their copolymers are now commonly used in biomedical devices because of their excellent biocompatibility.

Poly (L-lactic acid) (PLLA) is widely used in the biomedical field due to its biodegradability, biocompatibility, thermal plasticity and suitable mechanical properties ^[9, 10]. More recently, biodegradable materials have found enormous interest as supports because of the fact that the support disappears from the transplantation site with the passage of time, leaving behind a perfect patch of the natural tissue ^[11]. Three dimensional porous scaffolds of PLA have been created for culturing different cell types, using in cell based gene therapy for tissue regeneration and other treatments of cardiovascular, neurological, and orthopedic conditions ^[12, 13, 14]. The mammary gland, which differentiates mammals from all other animals, functions to produce and secrete milk in order to nourish offspring. Indeed, studies of mammary gland development have presented a unique insight into the mechanisms regulating cell growth, cell and tissue polarity, differentiation, branching morphogenesis and the transformation of a functional organ. Moreover, many dysregulated pathways and processes observed in breast cancer progression mimic those observed during normal mammary gland development and tissue remodeling; as with most glandular tissues, the adult mammary gland is comprises of multiple cell types, including epithelial, adipose, fibroblasts, immune, lymphatic and vascular cells, which work together to shape and maintain a functional organ.

Currently, there are 3 main surgical approaches for regeneration of mammary tissue following regeneration with autologous tissue (regeneration with scaffolds implants, free/pedicled flaps and lipofilling).

2.2 Prosthetic implant-based regeneration

Two different approaches may be adopted for breast tissue repair/reconstruction and regeneration. Both approaches may benefit from an appropriate selection of polymeric and composite materials, which are widely employed in the tissue engineering and prosthetic fields ^{[14],} as well as from the more advanced fabrication methods (i.e., additive manufacturing techniques). In this context, over the past years researchers' attention has been focused on the development of multifunctional devices in the form of gels/ hydrogels, semi-interpenetrating polymer networks ^[15-16] and 3D advanced scaffolds ^[17-23]. The breast implant must properly reproduce the exact shape and size of the defect as well as the mechanical features of the native tissue through a suitable material/geometry design. In this case, 3D scaffolds must be designed to possess suitable architectural features, tailored mechanical and mass transport properties according to the specific application. To this aim, aliphatic polyesters such as poly lactic acid (PLA) together with other synthetic biodegradable polymers commonly used for tissue engineering applications ^[23] can be properly considered.

2.3 Anatomy & Physiology of the Breast

The breast is an organ whose structure reflects its special function: the production of milk for lactation (breast feeding). The normal human breast consists of ductal epithelium and surrounding stroma. The stroma consists of two compartments (intralobular stroma and extralobular stroma), accounts for more than 80% of the breast volume, and provides nutrition and structural support for the normal epithelium. The epithelial component of the tissue consists of lobules, where milk is made, which connect to ducts that lead out to the nipple. These lobules and ducts are spread throughout the background fibrous tissue and adipose tissue (fat) that make up the majority of the breast. The blood supply from the breast comes primarily from the internal mammary artery, which runs underneath the main breast tissue. The blood supply provides nutrients, such as oxygen, to the breast tissue. The lymphatic vessels of the breast flow in the opposite direction of the blood supply and drain into lymph nodes. The dimensions and weight of the breast can vary substantially between individuals. A small to moderate breast weighs about 500 g or less ^[24], and large breasts weigh about 750 to 1000 g^[25]. Some women have more glandular tissue in their breasts and some have less, and likewise, some have more fatty tissue or connective tissue than others, and the ratio of fat to connective tissue content determines the firmness of the breast. The size and shape also varies over time in the same woman because of the changes during menstrual cycle, pregnancy, after weaning, and during menopause^[27].

2.4 Cellular Breast Regeneration

It involves cell seeding on a scaffold followed by culturing in vitro prior to implantation in vivo. The ideal scaffolds provide a framework and initial support for the cells to attach, proliferate and differentiate, and form an extracellular matrix (ECM)^[27, 28]. It should be noted that scaffold surface topography and chemistry (wettability, softness and stiffness, roughness); microstructure (porosity, pore size, pore shape, interconnectivity, specific surface area) and mechanical properties ^[29] have been shown to significantly influence cell behaviors such as adhesion, growth and differentiation, and to affect the bioactivity of scaffolds used for in vivo regeneration applications of various tissues, such as breast, cartilage, skin and peripheral nerves. PLA has been utilized as ecological material as well as surgical implant material and drug delivery systems, and also as porous scaffolds for the growth of neo-tissue ^[30].

2.5 Mechanical Properties of Normal Breast Tissue

2.5.1 Basic Concepts

The biomechanical properties of tissue (ex. stiffness/elastic modulus) vary markedly between organs and tissues, and are inherently related to tissue function. Breast tissue has a unique rheology and optimum biomechanical properties, changing over the course of development in response to function (as during mammary gland lactation) or in pathological situations (such as tumors). Although, breast tumors are stiffer than normal breast. ^[31, 32] An important characteristic of breast tissue is their nonlinearity at high deformation ^[33]. For example, the tensile response of breast tissue exhibits nonlinear stiffening while undergoing high deformations. The mechanical characteristics of soft tissues consist, in general, of a complex combination of elastic and viscous components ^[34]. This combination controls the deformation of tissue ^[35].

2.6 Engineering Challenges

The complexity of mammary tissue and the variety of cells involved makes tissue regeneration an ambitious goal. Technical problems regarding the definition of supports (scaffolds), cells used and stability and culture medium has been a challenge to issues regarding regeneration in tissue engineering application. Hence, the need for a significant requirement for tolerant 3D models that could contribute to understanding both normal tissue function and changes that occur in disease, particularly cancer thereby helping to

overcome many of the shortcomings associated with experimentation and two-dimensional (2D) tissue culture. Clinical application is limited due to high machine cost, design and fabrication time involved.

2.6.1 Squared surface model

Essential parameters which scaffold should meet for a proper cell proliferation is sufficient and regular porosity, and imitation of the original architecture of tissue or organ that needs to be regenerated. ^[36] According to these conditions 2 types of scaffold structures for bone tissue regeneration were designed and printed. The reasons of different inner structures of both scaffolds are as follows:

Scaffold ST1 – Presumption that the scaffold will be seeded by cells from the top. thus individual filaments need to overlap each other vertically in each second layer to prevent the cells "fall" down through the scaffold structure (see the figure below - scaffold).

Scaffold ST2 – Porosity is approx.. 50–60% higher than in case of ST1 in order to determine whether the cells attach individual filament even if there are vertical gaps between layers (see the figure below)



Figure 2.1; Scaffold design; the porosity of ST1 scaffold was expected around 30% and intended diameter of the filament is 0.35 mm and pore size 0.35 mm

In fact, we have recently confirmed that the variation of scaffold geometry from an orthogonal configuration (squared pores) to a diagonal configuration (triangular pores) (see Fig. 1) affects both macrophages morphology and cytokine expression (data not shown). Furthermore, orthogonal scaffolds promoted the presence of rounded multinucleated giant cells, whereas diagonal ones lead to elongated macrophages.

2.6.2 Scaffold design and porosity

To repair damaged tissues and organs, tissue engineering currently utilizes artificial supporting structures called "scaffolds", which serve as carriers of cell cultures and control their growth. Scaffolds are fabricated

as porous structures of pre-defined shapes. Their structure properties include external geometry, porosity, porous interconnectivity, individual pore size, and surface area ^[37]. Scaffolds are prepared using biodegradable materials, allowing the material gradually disintegrates (degrades) after the formation of a new tissue or organ. Scaffolds are seeded with suitable cells (depending on the type of tissue) in vitro and then implemented in vivo into the place of damage. Here, through the porous structure of the scaffold a cell proliferation occurs, which enables the formation of a new tissue ^[38]. Design and inner architecture of the 3D structure strongly depends on its final application. An important parameter affecting cell response is the scaffold geometry including pores size, shape, and struts size and orientation among others. Scaffolds architecture not only affects their mechanical performance but also affects their permeability, nutrients diffusion and cell response ^[39]. Sufficient and regular porosity is required for uniform cell proliferation both in the space of scaffolds and in time the speed of cell proliferation and degradation of the material should ideally be uniform. Current studies report that ideal scaffold porosity should be around or more than 90% (especially for bone tissue engineering) and pores should provide good interconnectivity to ensure good proliferation of cells ^[40].

2.6.3 Scaffold Manufacturing

Materials currently used for scaffold manufacturing are split into several types; entirely synthetic materials, natural materials, ceramics, and their combinations. Natural fibres used in scaffolding include collagen, the protein that creates the majority of extracellular matrix; alginate, a plant polymer derived from algae; chitosan, derived from chitin found in insects and fibrin gel ^[41]. Synthetic materials allow for a better control of chemical, physical and mechanical properties, as well as degradation rate. In addition, fabrication methods can process synthetic materials into scaffolds of desired porosity, morphologies, and anisotropies with well improved cell attachment and migration. The synthetic materials that scaffolds are usually made of are polymeric. The most popular polymers are linear aliphatic polyesters. This group includes polyglycolic acid (PGA), polylactic acid (PLA), and their co-polymers polylactic co-glycolic acid (PLGA). ^[42] One of the most promising techniques for an "ideal" scaffold structure fabrication is Rapid prototyping due to its excellent control over the geometry of the created sample while industrial 3D printers have reached extremely high resolution in the past few years. Unfortunately, porosity reduces mechanical properties such as compressive strength, and increases the complexity for reproducible scaffold manufacturing. Mechanical properties constitute another important feature of the scaffold. This importance has multiple reasons; growing cells may exert force, and certain cell types such as fibroblasts generate

substantial force, a mechanically weak scaffold might be broken down under the load of these forces and change the shape of the final tissue structure ^[43].

2.6.4 Scaffold Requirements and Fabrication Methods

Scaffold design plays an important role in manipulating cells behavior and guiding tissue formation in tissue engineering. The optimal scaffold should mimic the target tissue in its native condition. Tissue engineering uses porous 3D scaffolds to provide the appropriate environment for the regeneration of tissues and organs. These scaffolds usually act as a support for biomolecules decoration and cell loading and eventually for tissue formation, as is shown in figure below ^[42]. Although there is discrepancy to this effect which is why there is a need to take into consideration certain conditions and requirement because different site of body makes it difficult for exact mimic composition, organization and multiple functions of native tissues. Thus following are significant when designing or determining the feasibility of a scaffold for a specific application in tissue engineering:

- a) Biocompatibility
- b) Proper degradation
- c) Suitable mechanical strength
- d) Scaffold architecture
- e) Easy modification
- f) Easy processing

2.6.5 Scaffold Fabrication Methods

Several methods have been developed to engineer biomaterials into desirable complex architectures for specific usage in tissue engineering which includes solvent casting and particulate leaching, Phase separation, 3D printing, freeze drying, electrospinning, self-organization, microfabrication. But for the purpose of this study, our focus is on the fabrication of scaffolds using 3D printing.

2.7 3D Printing

Rapid prototyping (RP), also known as additive manufacturing (AM), has been well received and adopted in the field of biomedical application of which the techniques to fabricate customized 3D structures with complex geometries and excellent reproducibility has revolutionized implantology and regenerative medicine. In particular, nozzlebased systems allow the fabrication of high-resolution polylactic acid (PLA) structures that are of interest in regenerative medicine. The 3D in vitro provides platforms for studying cell response to different scaffolds conditions. The approach consists of a system integrated with pumping technology and a CAD/CAM system for the fabrication of 3D structures with well-defined predetermined geometries. Scaffolds obtained gives platforms for studying the effect of various parameters such as scaffolds architecture, pore size, geometry, topography, wettability, and mechanical properties among others, on cells behavior including inflammatory response.^[44, 45]

2.8 Scaffold Biomaterials

Implantable 3D scaffolds are used for restoration and reconstruction of different anatomical defects of complex organs and functional tissues. Scaffolds are three-dimensional (3D) porous, fibrous or permeable biomaterials intended to permit transport of body liquids and gases, promote cell interaction, viability and extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition with minimum inflammation and toxicity while bio-degrading at a certain controlled rate. Based on their chemical composition, biomaterials used for 3D scaffolds are classified into metals, ceramics and glass-ceramics, natural and synthetic polymers, and composites ^[46, 47]. Also, biomaterial scaffolds are used for delivering therapeutic agents like proteins, growth factors, drugs, etc. and the anchorage of these substances to the scaffold is of high importance for loading. As biomaterial-cell interactions are key to cell viability, proliferation and differentiation, characteristics of biomaterials such as surface chemistry, charge, roughness, reactivity, hydrophilicity, and rigidity need to be considered. ^[48, 49]

2.9 Formation of Tissue Constructs

The major aspect of tissue engineering is the design and fabrication of constructs for the replacement of non-functional or damaged tissue. In an additional feature, the creation relates to a tissue construct having a composite structure. The tissue construct includes:

(a) A biodegradable substrate, in which the substrate is modified to allow deposition or growth of a plurality of cells.

(b) A vascularized layer comprising a plurality of blood vessels therein.

In advance aspect, tissue construct for the growth and structuring of new tissue or for the repair of damaged tissue is developed. The tissue construct may be configured into various shapes as long as it is moderately flat and adequately flexible to influence the shape of the tissue construct to conform to the anatomical site

of interest and to be sutured. The tissue construct described can be used for implantation or regeneration in mammals (such as a human, dog, cat, rabbit, mouse, rat, etc.). The layer thickness of contrast should be in the micrometer range about 10 to about 500 μ m (microns) not thicker than about 1,000 μ m. The substrate consists of a biodegradable material, such as a biodegradable polymer. Biodegradable material is readily prone to biological processing in vivo.^[42] Biodegradable material may result in the formation of primary degradation products such as compounds of low molecular weight, which then decay further through the action of a living organism.

2.9.1 Polymers in Tissue Engineering

Different materials have been used to produce scaffolds for numerous applications. These include natural and synthetic polymers. Ceramic materials are also used, particularly in mixture with polymers especially in bone tissue applications, as a result forming composite materials with enhanced mechanical and biological properties. Moreover, natural or synthetic polymers can be used to form the matrix used in breast tissue engineering applications, although synthetic polymers are preferred for reproducibility and controlled release kinetics. Synthetic polymers that can be used include biodegradable polymers such as poly (lactide) (PLA), poly (glycolic acid) (PGA), Poly lactide-co-glycolide (PLGA), poly (caprolactone), polycarbonates and so on. ^[50]

2.9.2 Natural Polymers

Polymer materials such as collagen, fibrin, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), chitosan, alginates and starch, can be extracted from plants, animals or human tissues; they demonstrate good biocompatibility, low toxicity and a low chronic inflammatory response. They can be combined into a composite with other natural materials or synthetic materials and can be degraded by naturally occurring enzymes. Disadvantages include poor mechanical properties and they often require chemical modification to increase strength such as cross-linking by dehydrative methods or chemical methods (glutaraldeyde).^[51]

2.9.3 Synthetic Polymers

Synthetic polymers represent the largest group of biodegradable polymers. Recent developments in the synthetic biodegradable polymers have significant interest for macromolecular science in both environmental and biomedical perspectives. One of the most important polymeric candidates is the biodegradable poly (lactic acid) (PLA) that is described as aliphatic polyester.

2.9.4 Biodegradable Polymers

Biodegradable synthetic polymers offer a number of advantages over other materials for emergent scaffolds in tissue engineering. The major advantages include the ability to adapt mechanical properties and degradation kinetics to suit various applications. Synthetic polymers represent the largest group of biodegradable polymers. They exhibit predictable and reproducible mechanical and physical properties such as tensile strength, elastic modulus and degradation rate. Synthetic polymers are also attractive because they can be fabricated into various shapes with desired pore morphologic features conducive to tissue in-growth. Moreover, polymers can be designed with chemical functional groups that can induce tissue in-growth. Biodegradable synthetic polymers such as poly (glycolic acid), poly (lactic acid) and their copolymers, poly (p-dioxanone), and copolymers of trimethylene carbonate and glycolide have been used in a number of clinical applications.^[51, 52] An unusually wide range of polymeric implant devices are used in soft tissue sites. Just a few examples include mammary prostheses, drug delivery systems, sutures and reconstructive (plastic surgery) materials. Degradation rate of scaffolds can be adapted to the specific applications by selecting specific polymers, copolymers or blends. Most of these polymers undergo to a simple hydrolytic degradation. The biocompatibility of soft tissue implants has generally been associated with their toxicology (i.e. the leaching or extraction of cytoreactive components into the body space).^[53]

Diagram of some polymers;



Figure 3.1; schematic showing the chemical structure of some main biodegragradable polymer used in biomedicine

2.9.5 Physiochemical Properties of PLA

Poly lactic acid is a bioplastic produced by totally renewable sources that belongs to the family of poly (alpha-hydroxyl esters). Although it was first synthesized in 1932 by Carothers (DuPont), its patenting occurred in 1954, as a higher molecular weight was achieved. Its monomer is the lactic acid molecule, and its esterification leads to the existence of stereoisomers, such as poly (L-lactide) (PLLA), poly (D-lactide) (PDLA), and poly (DL-lactide) (PDLLA). The eco-friendly characteristics of PLA, in terms of renewability, recyclability, non-toxicity and compostability, make it very promising in the perspective of green chemistry applications, whereas its cytocompatibility and the biocompatibility of its degradation products make it attractive as material for biomedical and drug delivery applications. Depending on these characteristics, PLA may be amorphous or semi-crystalline and its crystallinity may depend on intrinsic chemical-physical properties, such as stereochemistry, or preparation conditions, such as thermal history ^[53, 54]. PLA tends to be crystalline when the amount of PLLA is higher than 90%; otherwise, it tends to be amorphous. The content of PLLA affects even melting temperature (Tm) and glass transition temperature (Tg), as well as mechanical properties. Elastic modulus proved to increase from less than 1–3.5 to 2.7–4.1 GPa as a function of L-lactide content, whereas tensile strength was found to vary from 20- 50 to 60-80 MPa. Notably, elongation at break of PLA seems to be scarcely affected by stereoisomer content and equal to 2-10%. Physical characteristics such as density, heat capacity, and mechanical and rheological properties of PLA are dependent on its transition temperatures.^[55]

2.9.6 Hydrolysis of PLA

The degradation properties of a scaffold are of essential importance for biomaterial selection and design especially for the long-term success of a tissue engineered construct. Polymers have been shown to degrade mainly by simple hydrolysis of the ester bond into acidic monomers, which can be removed from the body by normal metabolic pathways. Other factors that affect degradation include hydrophobicity and molecular weight ^[53]. The chain cleavage reaction during the hydrolytic degradation of PLA proceeds preferentially in amorphous regions, which leads to an increase in the polymer crystallinity and it, has also been noted that the crystallinity of PLA tends to increase as it degrades. In aqueous solutions, the hydrolytic degradation of PLA proceeds via random cleavage of the ester bond, which is controlled by four basic parameters: the rate constant, the amount of absorbed water, the diffusion coefficient of chain fragments within the polymer, and the solubility of degradation products. In general, the hydrolytic degradation of PLA-based solid polymer matrices can proceed through under two different mechanisms: (i) surface or heterogeneous reactions and (ii) bulk or homogeneous erosion ^[54]. Hydrolytic rate was dependent on the molecular weight of the oligomer along with pH and temperature of the media.

(B)



Figure 4.1; the hydrolysis of PLA

2.9.7 Rate of Degradation

The main intent of engineered tissue is to replace and regenerate damaged tissue or organ. In order to comply with this requirement, the scaffold material of the transplanted tissue should be subjected to remodeling and absorption. They should be able to degrade in equal or similar pace with the regeneration of extracellular matrix and differentiation of cells. This phenomenon depends on several factors, including hydrophilicity of the scaffold, surface area, porosity, degree of crystallinity, presence or absence of certain enzymes, etc. The most critical part here is harmonization in these factors, so that the degradation of biomaterial and stress release to the surrounding tissue is well synchronized, to ensure healing of the damaged tissue. ^[54-58]

2.9.8 Effects of pH

It is simple to understand that the material degradation strongly depends on temperature. By examining the half-life of MW of PLA in the form of porous scaffolds under different temperatures ^[54], we confirmed that the biodegradation of porous scaffolds obeys the Arrhenius equation with activation energy. The pH effect is also not unexpected. PLA degrades prevailingly via chemical hydrolysis, and a low pH or very high pH causes a significant effect to catalyses hydrolysis of an ester bond. So, temperature and pH should be strictly controlled for a convincing *in vitro* degradation test.

2.10 Cell Culture

Cell lines used in 3D experiments are transduced with genetic constructs driving expression of fluorescent proteins, in order to allow monitoring of the cells during cultivation. Since no common protocol to generate labeled cell lines was generated, but a variety of working protocols exist ^[56]

2.11 Key Factors about Scaffolds that Affect Cell/Surface Interactions

The following characteristics of scaffolds affect cell/surface integration during tissue engineering:

2.11.1 Cell Responses Due to the Surface Chemistry of Tissue Engineering Scaffolds

These phenomenon as listed below shows the various reaction which takes place on the surfaces of the scaffolds.

2.11.1.2 Surface Hydrophobicity

The surface hydrophobicity is well known as a key factor to govern cell response. The surface hydrophobicity can be assessed by measuring contact angle through water spread of a droplet on a surface. The lower the contact angle, the more hydrophilic the surface is. Previous studies showed the more hydrophilic surface of material films is the much more cell adhesion on the surface ^[59]. For example, osteoblast adhesion was reported decrease when the contact angle of surface increased from 0° to 106°. Fibroblasts were found to have maximum adhesion when contact angles were between 60° and 80° ^[60]. Furthermore, surface hydrophobicity is related to the rate of cell spreading and differentiation. On hydrophilic surfaces, cells generally showed good spreading, proliferation and differentiation.

2.11.1.3 Surface Charge

After surface hydrophobicity, surface charge has been recently described a lot in the cell attachment phenomenon. Firstly, the amount of surface charges can influence cell behavior. Secondly, many researchers reported the improved biocompatibility, cell affinity and cell differentiation on the implanted surfaces by using the positive ions and the negative ions ^[61]. Positively charged surfaces, for example, modified with quaternary amine, have been proved to largely enhance cell adhesion and cell spreading with or without serum on hydrophilic surfaces or even on hydrophobic surfaces in the presence of serum ^[62]. The best cell adhesion, growth and spreading rate were recorded on polar and positively charged surfaces (amine group grafted PE) while the negatively charged surface (carboxylic acid group-grafted PE) still had poor growth. Moreover, the surfaces grafted with neutral amide and hydroxyl groups showed a similar number of cell attachments; however; the morphology of cells attached on the surfaces was quite distinct. The cells were spread much more on the hydroxyl group grafted surface than the amide group-grated one. On the other hand, surface charge may modulate protein adsorption to direct integrin binding and specificity, thereby controlling cell adhesion. ^[63]

2.11.1.4 Protein Adsorption

Many proteins, including immunoglobulins, vitronectin, fibrinogen, and fibronectin (Fn), adsorb onto implant surfaces immediately upon contact with physiological fluids and modulate subsequent inflammatory responses. For example, adsorbed adhesive proteins mediate the attachment and activation of neutrophils, macrophages, and other inflammatory cells. ^[61] Hydrophobic surfaces tend to absorb more proteins, while hydrophilic surfaces tend to resist protein adsorption. Absorption onto various polymer substrates and the maximal protein absorption were observed on surfaces with water contact angle ranging from 60° to 80° ^[62]

2.11.1.5 Surface Topography

Material surface roughness or Topography plays an important role in regulating cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, and differentiation on the substrates ^[63]. Material surface roughness has a direct influence in vitro as well as in vivo on cellular morphology, proliferation, and phenotype expression. Studies have been reported that cells grown on micro rough surfaces were stimulated towards differentiation; as shown by their gene expression in comparison with cells growing on smooth surfaces. Considering the fundamental method of cell responses to scaffold surface with specific topography is a key to successful regeneration of tissues with optimal structures and functions. The most prominent phenomenon might be the contact guidance of cells: namely, cell alignment on an anisotropic surface. Usually, this leads cells to elongation along groove or ridge structures. Cell viability and proliferation are also regulated by surface topographical features. As a basic cellular event, cell migration is also significantly sensitive to the topographic cues called topotaxis. Depending on the scale of irregularities of the material surface, surface roughness can be divided to macro roughness (100 µm - millimeters), micro roughness (100nm - 100 µm), and nano roughness (less than 100 nm), each with its specific influence ^[63, 64]. The response of cells to roughness is different depending on the cell type. For smaller cells, surfaces at nanometer scale (10–102nm) while for large cell, we have between (200 nm $-8.0 \mu m$) of which the human mammary epithelial cells (hTERT-HME1) cultured surface is about (4.0 nm). Hence, the selectivity of cells on surface roughness could be greatly of improvement on the development of implanted devices.

2.11.1.6 Surface Softness and Stiffness

Numerous studies have reported that cell attachment, proliferation and differentiation are all modulated by the substrate rigidity to a degree dependent upon the substrate stiffness in relation to the stiffness of the native tissue. To obtain good mimic of *in vitro* environment, it is essential to fabricate scaffolds with similar stiffness of targeted sites because scaffolds poses a significant effect on cell performance, for example, cell spreading, migration and differentiation. Stiffness also exhibits certain environmental factors (e.g.

temperature, pH and electric field). Therefore, mechanical cells response is altered due to the cell projection area and polarity ranging from stiffness changes ^[65].

2.11.1.7 3D Architecture

On a macroscopic level, the overall shape of the scaffold provides boundaries for tissue regrowth. On a microscope level, the material provides a framework and capillary networks for local cell growth and tissue organization, permitting cell attachment, distribution and proliferation within a controllable microenvironment ^[65]. Altering the micro-architecture, such as the material crystallinity or the microporosity, and/or the macro-architecture of the scaffold can be achieved by changing the pores size, porosity, pore interconnectivity and tortuosity, to match the characteristics of the native tissue whilst retaining integrity. Scaffold porosity in particular controls the key processes of nutrient supply to cells, metabolite dispersal, local pH stability, mechanical stability at this critical interface and cell signaling. The size of the pores can affect how close the cells are at the initial stages of cultivation (allowing for cell-cell communication in three dimensions), but also influences the amount of space the cells have for 3-D organization in the later stages of tissue growth. Porous structure allows cells to grow and migrate in 3D space within scaffold as they do *in vivo and in vitro*. Suitable pore size and good interconnectivity can allow efficient diffusion of nutrients and removal of metabolic wastes, thus promoting cell proliferation in 3D space. ^[66] The porous scaffolds can also promote the structure regeneration and function realization of tissues.

2.12 Micro-environment

A microenvironment is comprised of stem cells, localized signaling cells, soluble glycoprotein mediators, and the extracellular matrix (ECM)^[56]. Within the mammary gland the localized signaling cells consist of epithelial cells, both luminal and basal, myoepithelial cells, fibroblasts and the cells of the stromal compartment including adipocytes. The mammary gland is an intricate network of interconnected ducts and alveolar structures. In the ducts, the luminal cells are surrounded by a continuous layer of myoepithelial cells, However, in the alveolar structures, the luminal cells are surrounded by discontinuous layer of myoepithelial cells ^[66,67] allowing the luminal cells of the alveolar structures to interact with and receive signals from the different microenvironment components. Such interactions facilitate the further differentiation of alveolar luminal cells into milk-producing cells. This extensive regenerative potential of the mammary gland is due to the presence of the primitive mammary stem cells, which can give rise to both

luminal and myoepithelial cells that make up the ductal and alveolar structures The maintenance and differentiation of the various mammary gland cell types is also dependent on the features and properties of the local tissue microenvironment, in particular those of the surrounding ECM. The importance of the ECM and stroma in mammary gland development and function were proposed several decades ago, reviewed by Varner and Nelson (2014)^[68, 69]. The ECM transduces the interaction signals required for normal functioning and undifferentiated cell. Without the interactions, including chemical and physical, provided by the surrounding signaling cells the stem cells will not behave normally. The mammary microenvironment can be regarded as the essential functional building block required for the complete development of a functional mammary gland. Understanding the intricate interactions between all the components of the microenvironment is fundamental in the early detection of pathologies and for future tissue engineering technologies in regenerative medicine. Large amount of data suggest that cell-cell and cell-microenvironment interactions modify the proliferation, survival, polarity, differentiation, and invasive capacity of mammary epithelial cells. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying these effects are poorly understood. Another source of intercellular signals that influence the normal mammary microenvironment is the immune system.^[70]

2.13 Cell Adhesion

The mammary gland has long served as a valuable model system for studying cell adhesion in epithelial morphogenesis and tumor biology ^[71]. Mature mammary ducts exhibit simple epithelial architecture, with a bilayer of inner luminal and outer myoepithelial cells, each expressing distinct adhesion proteins ^[72, 73]. Studies in the mammary gland have focused on a component of the adherens junction, E-Cadherin and the intracellular molecules (catenins) which associate with it and on a family of molecules which are involved in cell-matrix interactions, called the integrins. Early functional analyses of cell adhesion frequently relied on function perturbing antibodies which in turn has an impact on the morphogenesis of the normal mammary tissue.

2.14 Homeostasis

In the mammary gland, homeostasis involves the renewal of somatic stem cells (basal and luminal). Volume homeostasis within a closed, fluid-filled space is a common physiological problem for multicellular organisms, and maintenance of volume–space homeostasis typically requires two kinds of feedback networks: which includes multiple organs and those that are tissue-autonomous. Disturbances of volume–space homeostasis contribute to pathologies such as hypertension, glaucoma, hydrocephaly, cystic fibrosis,

mastitis, and polycystic kidney disease. In the case of milk filling in the mammary glands, homeostatic regulation of volume is a major practical problem for the dairy industry. ^[74, 75] In the breasts, volume–space homeostasis is achieved by complex interactions among signals that travel through neuroendocrine pathways and signals strictly within the local environment of the glands ^[76-80]. Milk synthesis is regulated within the alveolar units of the breast so as to control the degree of alveolar distension in the short term, and adjust milk secretion to the demands of the offspring, in the long term.

2.15 Immunohistochemistry

Histological examinations of in vivo systems using implanted PCL/PLA scaffolds showed that cells intruded into the PCL/PLA scaffolds seem to increase the thermostability of the material.^[81]

2.16 Vascularisation

The mammary gland is intercalated with extensive vascular and lymphatic networks present throughout the fat pad. Immune cells, such as macrophages and eosinophils, are also required for branching morphogenesis, and they are recruited to the branching tips of the epithelium to mediate invasion into the fat pad ^[82].Vascular implants and soft tissues present unique challenges, whereby combining strength, flexibility, and cellular compatibility have led to the use of materials which degrade and are replaced by native tissue overtime. Small and simpler organ printing has been successful, without much difficulty. However, it is not simple when comes to bigger and complex organ, due to difficulty in vascularization. Small tissues are avascular, and most of the time, aneural, alymphatic, and thin or hollow. They can receive nutrition from host vasculature. But when the transplanted tissue is thicker than 150–200 µm, oxygen cannot be diffused from host tissue to it. As such, to create a functional bigger and complex tissue or organ, an integrated vascular system is to be created, which is still not in place ^[83-84]. Engineering vasculature poses the greatest clinical need in tissue engineering, as without adequate vascularization, any large cell-containing implant will fail from insufficient nutrient exchange. ^[85]

2.17 Regenerative Therapies

The delivery of therapeutic cells that directly contribute to the structure and function of new tissues is a principle model of regenerative medicine to date ^[86, 87]. The cells used in these therapies are either autologous or allogeneic and are typically differentiated cells that still maintain proliferative capacity. Materials plays an important role in current regenerative medicine strategies because the material

can mimic the native extracellular matrix (ECM) of tissues and direct cell behavior, contribute to the structure and function of new tissue, and locally present growth factors. ^[88] For example, 3D polymer scaffolds are used to promote expansion of cells in mammary breast tissue repair. Regenerative medicine approaches, including stem cells therapies and tissue engineering, holds the potential to modernize the management of numerous diseases and trauma in the upcoming years. There are several key technologies and methodologies used in tissue regeneration therapy of which of the first key technology is for the preparation of scaffolds for cell proliferation and differentiation for in *vivo* tissue regeneration. The scaffold is a temporary platform of cell activities. The long-term retention of cell scaffold sometimes causes physical interference against the natural process of tissue regeneration.

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 Materials and Methods

3.1 Introduction

Rapid prototyping (RP) can also be referred to as additive manufacturing (AM), emerged in the field of biomaterials as a new tool for the fabrication of scaffolds with a reputable architectures. An RP technique provides the possibility of building customized scaffolds based on patient-specific tissue defects. These techniques combine computer-aided design together with automated printing technology. The capacity of this family of techniques to fabricate customized 3D structures with complex geometries and excellent reproducibility has proven to be the alternative for implantology and regenerative medicine.^[89]

3.2 Materials

Lulzbot TAZ (made in North Dakota, USA) available at African University of Science and Technology, Abuja Nigeria was used for printing the PLA Filament with grey colour pigment (diameter 2.85 mm, density 1.25 g/cm3, printing temperature $195^{\circ}C - 230^{\circ}C$, printing speed 40-90 mm/s, net weight 3kg (as specified by the manufacturers). ^[90] Universal Testing Machine (UTM) designed and built by Instron a division of Illinois Tool work (ITW) of USA with maximum capacity of 5000N/500N was used to carry out the mechanical property. Introducing Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM, ZEISS EVO LS10 USA) was used to investigate the morphology of the sample.

3.2.1 Scaffold Design

Fusion Autodesk 360 (San Rafael, California USA) software was created to design the scaffold in .stl files. The base layer of each design was first created as an .f3d file and then using a bottom up approach consecutive, alternating layers were printed to form the 3D scaffold.

3.2.2 Scaffold Fabrication

A desk top Lulzbot TAZ 3D Printer (Lulzbot, North Dakota, USA) a desktop 3D printer system was used to fabricate the 3D PLA scaffolds. The print head dispenses molten material through the nozzle which receives

PLA filament through a thermoplastic extruder to the heated bed which moves in the x-y plane. Computeraided design-based software fusion Autodesk 360^{TM} was used to design the 3D scaffold structure. The 3D CAD models saved in a .stl format was converted into G-code using Cura software files that enabled the Lulzbot TAZ (made in North Dakota, USA) software to command and Control the printing process. All parameters were left in the default condition.

Parameter	Value
Filament diameter	2.85mm
Printing speed	60mm/s
Printing temperature	205°C
Bed temperature	55°C

Table II. Printing Processing Parameters Used





Figure 3.1: (A) Lulzbot TAZ 3D printer, (B) Printed Scaffolds

3.3 Characterization of Samples

Samples characterization was obtained on the 3D PLA structures in order to get better analysis of the surface properties and compositions.

3.3.1 Morphology Analysis

The scaffold was air-dried, and the surface was ready for observation with the Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM, ZEISS EVO LS10 USA) at AUST for the beginning and end of the degradation period at time (t) = 0, 2, 4, 6 and 8 weeks to visualize possible surface changes due to degradation. The scaffold sample was coated with gold/palladium targets using a sputter coater (Quorum SC 7620 sputter coater) set at 10mA for a total time of 60secs for the SEM analysis.

3.3.2 Water Adsorption

the scaffolds were pre-wetted by SBF solution and then immersed in 30 mL of SBF solution at 37 °C in water bath for different periods (2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks) in a water bath. After immersion, the scaffolds were carefully wiped with filter paper to remove the surface water, and then the weights of the scaffolds were measured as W_{wet} . The dry weights of the scaffolds were measured as W_{dry} before the absorption test.

The water adsorption capacity of the PLA scaffolds was characterized in terms of the swelling percentage (S_w), which was calculated using the following equation;

Swelling Ratio
$$(S_w) = \frac{W \text{wet.} - W_D}{W_D} X \ 100$$

= $\frac{0.0858 - 0.2351}{0.2351} X \ 100$
= -63.5%

Where W_{wet} is the weight of the wet sample and WD is the weight of the dried sample. At least three samples were tested for each sample to obtain an average value.

3.3.3 Mechanical Properties of the 3D-scaffolds

Universal testing machine (built by Instron Illinois tool Work USA) with a 5000N/500N load cell was used to evaluate the tensile Strength of the developed scaffolds. For each scaffold composition, three samples were tested although; their original dimensions were measured using a vernier caliper before the test. A

speed of 1 mm/min was used and a preloading of 0.5N was applied. Load-Extension data were computed from load displacement measurements.

3.3.4 Degradation Studies of PLA Scaffold

Degradation studies were performed by immersing the scaffolds in simulated body fluid (SBF), an acellular solution whose chemical composition is similar to that of blood plasma. Samples were immersed in SBF at 37 °C in a water bath for 8 weeks. The degradation of the materials was evaluated by means of weight loss measurements and SEM analysis.





Figure 3.2: Isotemp 2341 water bath

3.3.5 Weight Loss

Materials' weight loss during degradation was calculated from the changes in the specimens' dry weight before and after the incubation time periods. After 2, 4, 6 and 8 weeks of immersion in SBF, the samples were removed from the fluid, rinsed with distilled water and dried in a furnace at 37°C for 12h or until complete weight stabilization. The percentage of weight loss was computed according to the following equation:

$$\% W = \frac{W_o - W_t}{W_0} X \ 100$$
$$= \frac{0.2351 - 0.1478}{0.2351} X \ 100$$
$$= 37\%$$

Where Wo is the initial dry weight and Wt is the dry weight of the specimen at different degradation times. Values are expressed as the average of three replicates.

3.3.6 Cell Culture Experiments

The assay employs using a DAPI dye and Rhodamine phalloidins which stains the nucleus and the cytoskeleton of the cells embedded in the scaffold respectively thereby produces large fluorescence enhancement of cell growth.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 Results and Discussion

4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the results obtained from the cell culture and degradation experiments. The potential implications are also discussed for the development of 3D-printed scaffolds for breast tissue regeneration.

4.2 Characterization

4.2.1 Surface morphology

SEM images of 3D PLA scaffolds are presented in Figures 4.1a - 4.1d for scaffolds before and after the degradation studies. The initial surface morphologies of the scaffolds are presented in Figure 4.1. The initial scaffold surfaces are smooth (Fig. 4.1a). However, after exposure to SBF for 8 weeks, clear evidence of surface debris is present on the surfaces (Fig. 4.1b). Spherical cell morphologies are also observed on the surfaces of the scaffolds after days 0 and 7 of exposure of the scaffolds to the mammary breast cells. These are consistent with limited cell spreading during the initial stages of cell spreading and integration, following the insertion of the implant.

EDS results obtained from the scaffold are presented in Figure 4.1e. These reveal the presence of C, O, Mg, Cl and Ti on the scaffolds. The SEM image in Fig. 4.1f also reveals the surface morphology of the PLA scaffold without cells.

(a)





(b)





(d)



Figure 4.1; ; SEM images showing (a)week 0 immersing in SBF, (b) week 8 of immersing in SBF, (c) Day 0 of scaffold cultured with the cells, (d) Day 7 of scaffold cultured with cells, (e) EDX image of scaffold immersed in SBF, (f) no cells

(e)

(f)

4.2.2 Effect of 3D Scaffold on Porosity

The shape of the pores on the PLA scaffolds became longer and narrower and for a longer duration, the clusters will be evenly distributed on the surface of the PLA scaffolds. Therefore degradation time significantly influences the pore sizes and porosities of the scaffolds.

4.2.3 Standard Curves

The plot of absorbance against protein concentration (μ g/L) (Fig 4.1) gives a linear line graph with a slope of 0.001 L/ μ g. These results show the cell proliferation assay of the scaffolds embedded with the breast cell.

4.2.4 Absorbance versus Protein Concentration

The graph of Absorbance against Albumin Protein Concentration (standard curve) for samples is shown below.



Figure 4.2: 4.2: Plot of absorbance versus protein concentration



Figure 4.3; gives (a) % Alamar Blue Reduction against number of days of scaffolds embedded with cells, (b) Protein Concentration against number of days of scaffolds embedded with cells

4.2.5 Fluorescence Microscopy

The Fluorescence micrograph or staining gives a visual representation showing that the cells are actually increasing or growing in numbers. Fluorescence micrograph images are show below.

The DAPI dye shows the blue dots colour while Rhodamine phalloidins give red/pink dots colour. The red stain means more cells and the pink stain means fewer cells as seen in (Fig. 4.4).





Figure 4.4: Fluorescence micrographs: (C) day 0 and (D) day 7

4.2.6 Weight Loss Versus Time

Material weight loss calculated during the degradation studies showed that the weight of the sample decreases with number of weeks (Fig. 4.5). The results below indicate a significance decrease in weight as the number of week's increases.



4.2.7 Mechanical Properties of 3D Scaffolds

The tensile strengths of the PLA scaffolds were 3.42 and 6.10 MPa for days 0 and 7, respectively, while the Young's Moduli were 234.67 and 337.33 MPa, for days 0 and 7, respectively.

4.2.8 Dependence of Tensile Strength on the Number of Weeks in SBF

The bar chart below represents the mechanical properties of scaffold immersed in SBF during degradation period of 8 weeks. This shows the tensile strength against number of weeks and the young's modulus against number of weeks for the samples. In general, the strengths and the Young's moduli increased with increasing duration of exposure to SBF (Figs 4.6a and 4.6b).



Figure 4.6: (a) Tensile strength against number of weeks, (b) Young's Modulus against number of weeks

4.2.9 Tensile Strength Dependence on the Number of Days of Cell Culturing

The mechanical properties of scaffold seeded with the cells for days 0 and 7 are illustrated below (Fig. 4.a and 4.7b). This represents the tensile strength against number of days and the Young's modulus versus number of days of cell culturing.

(d)



(c)

Figure 4.7: (c) Tensile strength against number of Days, (d) Young's Modulus against number of Days

In regenerative medicine, tissue engineering must have the mechanical strength needed for the fabrication of macro porous scaffolds that will retain its orientation and structure during and after implantation, particularly in the human tissue. In order to achieve a functionally successful and satisfactory implant, the mechanical properties must be considered for practical application in the course of its design. All soft tissues of the breast can be assumed to be nearly incompressible. Porous scaffold are therefore suitable for tissue regeneration and organs repairs. In this study, the tensile strength and modulus of the 3D PLA scaffolds conforms the basics requirements of mechanical properties in tissue engineering.



Figure 4.8: Stress-Strain curves obtained for PLA Scaffolds seeded with the mammary breast cells

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 Conclusion

A 3D printed PLA scaffold has been developed in this study. The scaffold has been shown to degrade during initial exposure to simulated body fluid. The initial stages of cell spreading and proliferation have also been studied using cell culture techniques. The studies reveal relatively slow cell spreading during the first 7 days of cell spreading. This suggests that surface coatings may be needed to improve the initial stages of cell spreading and integration to the PLA scaffolds.

The basic mechanical properties of the PLA scaffold increase with increasing duration of exposure. Furthermore, the tensile strength and Young's Modulus increase progressively as the number of days increases. However, after cell culture for 7 days, there is no significant difference between the mechanical properties of the scaffolds. Also, the increase in % Alamar Blue Reduction and Protein Concentration confirms the growth inhibition of the cells with large fluorescence enhancement during the cell culture experiments.

5.1 Future Work

- There is need to explore the effects of longer durations of exposure on PLA scaffold degradation and cell spreading.
- There is also a need to explore the cell spreading and proliferation, as well as the formation of tissue around the PLA scaffolds under in-vitro and in-vivo conditions.
- Explore possible tissue regeneration strategies for breast tissue repair.

REFERENCES

- Mammary gland development: cell fate specification, stem cells and the microenvironment Jamie L. Inman, Claire Robertson*, Joni D. Mott and Mina J. Bissell
- 2. Vaishali Bambole, Jatinder Vir Yakhmi, in Nanobiomaterials in Soft Tissue Engineering, Tissue engineering, 2016
- 3. Eleonora Carletti, 3D scaffolds for tissue engineering produced by microfabrication technology
- Mian R, Morrison WA, Hurley JV, Penington AJ, Romeo R, Tanaka Y, et al. Formation of new tissue from an arteriovenous loop in the absence of added extracellular matrix. Tissue Eng. 2000;6:595
- Renneker R, Cutler M. Psychological problems of adjustment to cancer of the breast. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1952;148:833
- Hutmacher DW, Sittinger M, Risbud MV. Scaffold-based tissue engineering: rationale for computer-aided design and solid free-form fabrication systems. Trends Biotechnology. 2004;22:354–62.
- Chanjuan D, Yonggang LV. Application of collagen scaffold in tissue engineering: recent advances and new perspectives. Polymers. 2016. doi:10. 3390/polym8020042.
- Ha TLB, Quan TM, Vu DN, Si DM. Naturally derived biomaterials: preparation and application. Regenerative Medicine and Tissue Engineering. 2013. doi: 10.5772/55668.
- Guntillake PA, Adhikari R. Biodegradable synthetic polymers for tissue engineering. Eur Cell Mater. 2003;5:1–16
- Gupta B, Revagade N, Hilborn J. Poly (lactic acid) fiber: an overview. *Prog Polym Sci* 2007;**34**:455–482
- 11. Subia B, Kundu J, Kundu SC. Biomaterial scaffold fabrication techniques for potential tissue engineering applications. Tissue Engineering. InTech. 2010. doi:10.5772/8581
- 12. Coutu DL, Yousefi AM, Galipeau J. Three-dimensional porous scaffolds at the crossroads of tissue engineering and cellbased gene therapy. *J Cell Biochem* 2009;**108**:537–546.
- 13. Kellomaki M, Niiranen H, Puumanen K, Ashammakhi N, Waris T, TormaLa P. Bioabsorbable scaffolds for guided bone regeneration and degeneration. *Biomater* 2000;**21**:2495–2505.

- 14. Papenburg BJ, Liu J, Higuera G, Barradas AMC, Boer J, Blitterswijk VCA. Development and analysis of multi-layer scaffolds for tissue engineering. *Biomater* 2009;**30**:6228–6239.
- 15. Gloria A, Ronca D, Russo T, D'Amora U, Chierchia M, De Santis R, Nicolais L, Ambrosio L. Technical features and criteria in designing fiber-reinforced composite materials: from the aerospace and aeronautical field to biomedical applications. J Appl Biomater Biomech 2011; 9: 151-163
- Reitmaier S, Wolfram U, Ignatius A, Wilke HJ, Gloria A, Martín-Martínez JM, Silva-Correia J, Oliveira JM, Reis RL, Schmidt H. Hydrogels for nucleus replacement – facing the biomechanical challenge. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2012; 14: 67-77.
- Silva-Correia J, Gloria A, Oliveira MB, Mano JF, Oliveira JM, Ambrosio L, Reis RL. Rheological and mechanical properties of acellular and cell-laden methacrylated gellan gum hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res A 2013; 101: 3438-46.
- Russo T, D'Amora U, Gloria A, Tunesi M, Sandri M, Rodilossi S, Albani D, Forloni G, Giordano C, Cigada A, Tampieri A, De Santis R, Ambrosio L. Systematic Analysis of Injectable Materials and 3D Rapid Prototyped Magnetic Scaffolds: From CNS Applications to Soft and Hard Tissue Repair/Regeneration. Procedia Eng 2013; 59: 233–239.
- 19. Agrawal, C. M., & Ray, R. B. (2001). Biodegradable polymeric scaffolds for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, 55(2), 141–150.
- 20. Tsaryk R, Gloria A, Russo T, Anspach L, De Santis R, Ghanaati S, Unger RE, Ambrosio L, Kirkpatrick CJ. Collagen-low molecular weight hyaluronic acid semiinterpenetrating network loaded with gelatin microspheres for cell and growth factor delivery for nucleus pulposus regeneration. Acta Biomaterialia 2015; 20: 10–21.
- 21. Giordano C, Albani D, Gloria A, Tunesi M, Batelli S, Russo T, Forloni G, Ambrosio L, Cigada A. Multidisciplinary perspectives for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases: hydrogels for protein delivery and cell-based drug delivery as therapeutic strategies. Int J Artif Organs 2009; 32: 836-850.
- Giordano C, Albani D, Gloria A, Tunesi M, Rodilossi S, Russo T, Forloni G, Ambrosio L, Cigada A. Nanocomposites for neurodegenerative diseases: hydrogelnanoparticle combinations for a challenging drug delivery. Int J Artif Organs 2011; 34: 1115-27.
- 23. De Santis R, Gloria A, Russo T, D'Amora U, D'Antò V et al. Advanced composites for hard-tissue engineering based on PCL/organic– inorganic hybrid fillers: From the design of 2D substrates to 3D rapid prototyped scaffolds. Polymer Composites 2013; 34: 1413-1417.

- Puppi D, Mota C, Gazzarri M, Dinucci D, Gloria A, Myzabekova M, Ambrosio L, Chiellini F. Additive manufacturing of wet-spun polymeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomed Microdevices 2012; 14: 1115-1127.
- 25. Domingos M, Intranuovo F, Russo T, De Santis R, Gloria A, Ambrosio L, Ciurana J, Bartolo P. The first systematic analysis of 3D rapid prototyped poly(ε-caprolactone) scaffolds manufactured through BioCell printing: the effect of pore size and geometry on compressive mechanical behaviour and in vitro hMSC viability. Biofabrication, 2013; 5: 045004-1 – 045004-13.
- 26. De Santis R, Russo A, Gloria A, D'Amora U, Russo T, Panseri S, Sandri M, Tampieri A, Marcacci M, Dediu VA, Wilde CJ, Ambrosio L. Towards the Design of 3D Fiber Deposited Poly (ε c a p r o l a c t o n e) / I r o n D o p e d Hydroxyapatite Nanocomposite Magnetic Scaffolds for B o n e R e g e n e r a t i o n . J o u r n a l o f B i o m e d i c a l Nanotechnology 2015; 11: 1236–1246.
- 27. Lee J, Guarino V, Gloria A, Ambrosio L, Tae G, Kim YH, Jung Y, Kim SH, Kim SH. Regeneration of Achilles' tendon: the role of dynamic stimulation for enhanced cell proliferation and mechanical properties. J Biomater Sci Polym 2010; 21: 1173-90.
- Esposito AR, Moda M, de Melo Cattani SM, de Santana GM, Abreu Barbieri J, Moron Munhoz M, Pereira Cardoso T, Peris Barbo ML, Russo T, D'Amora U, Gloria A, Ambrosio L, de Rezende Duek EA. PLDLA/PCL-T Scaffold for Meniscus Tissue Engineering. BioRes Open Access 2013; 2: 138-147.
- Gloria A, Russo T, De Santis R, Ambrosio L. 3D fiber deposition technique to make multifunctional and tailormade scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. J Appl Biomater Biomech 2009; 7, 141-152.
- 30. D.C. Pamplona and C. de Abreu Alvim, Breast reconstruction with expanders and implants: a numerical analysis, Artificial Organs 8 (2004), 353–356.
- 31. J.S. Grassley, Breast reduction surgery, What every woman needs to know, Lifelines 6 (2002), 244–249
- 32. F.S. Azar, A Deformable Finite Element Model of the Breast for Predicting Mechanical Deformations under External Perturbations, PhD Thesis, Dept. of Bioengineering, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia PA, USA, 2001.
- Butcher DT, Alliston T, Weaver VM (2009) A tense situation: forcing tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 9(2):108–122. doi:10.1038/nrc2544
- 34. Price BD, Gibson AP, Tan LT, Royle GJ (2010) An elastically compressible phantom material with mechanical and X-ray attenuation properties equivalent to breast tissue. Phys Med Biol 55:1177– 1188. doi:10.1088/0031-9155/55/4/018

- 35. Fung YC (1993) Biomechanics: mechanical properties of living tissues. Springer, New York
- Shiina T (2013) JSUM ultrasound elastography practice guidelines: basics and terminology. J Med Ultrason 40:309–323. doi:10.1007/s10396-013-0490-z
- 37. Peter SJ, Miller MJ, Yasko AW, Yaszemski MJ, Mikos AG. Polymers concepts in tissue engineering. *J Biomed Mater Res*
- 38. 1998;**43**:422–427.
- 39. Cheng Y, Deng S, Chen P, Ruan R. Polylactic acid (PLA) synthesis and modifications: a review. *Front Chem China*
- 40. Charles-Harris M, Koch MA, Navarro M, Lacroix D, Engel E, Planell JAA. A PLA/calcium phosphate degradable composite material for bone tissue engineering: an in vitro study. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2008; 19:1503-13; PMID:18266084; http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s10856-008-3390-9
- 41. Kohn J, Langer R (1997) Bioresorbable and bioerodible materials. In: An Introduction to Materials in Medicine. Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemon JE, eds. Academic Press, San Diego. pp 65-73.
- 42. Goddard, J. M., & Hotchkiss, J. H. (2007). Polymer surface modification for the attachment of bioactive compounds. *Progress in Polymer Science*, *32*, 698-725.
- 43. METHOD FOR FORMING A TISSUE CONSTRUCT AND USE THEREOF. Applicant (for all designated States except US): P.O. Box 1088, Rochor Post Office, Rochor Road, Sin ga NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY [SG/ pore 9 11833 (SG). SG]; 50 Nanyang Avenue, Singapore 639798 (SG).
- 44. Tiziano Serra, Miguel A Mateos-Timoneda, Josep A Planell and Melba Navarro, 3D printed PLAbased scaffolds, A versatile tool in regenerative medicine, Organogenesis 9:4, 239–244; October/November/December 2013; c 2013 Landes Bioscience
- 45. U. Jammalamadaka, K. Tappa, Recent advances in biomaterials for 3D printing and tissue engineering, J. Funct. Biomater. 9 (1) (2018) 22, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jfb9010022</u>.
- 46. H.N. Chia, B.M. Wu, Recent advances in 3D printing of biomaterials, J. Biol. Eng. 9 (2015) 4,
- 47. Scaffaro, R., Maio, A., & Nostro, A. (2020). Poly(lactic acid)/carvacrol-based materials: preparation, physicochemical properties, and antimicrobial activity. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. doi:10.1007/s00253-019-10337-9
- **48.** Van de Velde K, Kiekens P (2002) Biopolymers: overview of several properties and consequences on their applications. Polym Test 21: 433–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9418(01)00107-6</u>
- **49.** Nampoothiri KM, Nair NR, John RP (2010) An overview of the recent developments in polylactide (PLA) research. Bioresour Technol 101:8493–8501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.05.092</u>

- Henton DE, Gruber P, Lunt J, Randall J. Polylactic acid technology. In: Mohanty AK, editor. Natural Fibers, Biopolymers nd Biocomposites. CRC Press; 2005. p. 528–569.
- 51. Lu L, Peter SJ, Lyman MD, Lai H-L, Leite SM, Tamada JA, Uyama S, Vacanti JP, Langer R, Mikos AG. In vitro and in vivo degradation of porous poly (dl-lactic-co-glycolic acid) foams. Biomaterials 2000;21:1837–45.
- **52.** Lu L, Garcia CA, Mikos AG. In vitro degradation of thin poly(dl-lactic-co-glycolic acid) films. J Biomed Mater Res 1999; 46:236–44.
- **53.** Miller RA, Brady JM, Cutright DE. Degradation rates of oral resorbable implants (polylactates and polyglycolates): rate modification with changes in PLA/PGA copolymer ratio. J Biomed Mater Res 1977;11:711–9.
- Elsawy, M. A., Kim, K.-H., Park, J.-W., & Deep, A. (2017). Hydrolytic degradation of polylactic acid (PLA) and its composites. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 79, 1346–1352. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.143
- 55. Jing, D. Y., Zhang, J. C., Wu, L. B. & Ding, J. D. 2005 Degradation study of poly(lactic acid) porous scaffold at different temperatures. Polym. Mat. Sci. Eng. 21, 162 164
- 56. Hoque ME. Robust formulation for the design of tissue engineering scaffolds: A comprehensive study on structural anisotropy, viscoelasticity and degradation of 3D scaffolds fabricated with customized desktop robot based rapid prototyping (DRBRP) system. Materials Science & Engineering. C, Materials for Biological Applications. 2017;**72**:433-443
- 57. Estrada, M. F. et al. Modelling the tumour microenvironment in long-term microencapsulated 3D co-cultures recapitulates phenotypic features of disease progression. *Biomaterials* **78**, 50–61 (2016).
- 58. Ishikawa, J., Tsuji, H., Sato, H., & Gotoh, Y. (2007). Ion implantation of negative ions for cell growth manipulation and nervous system repair. *Surface and coatings technology*, *01*, 8083-8090.
- Bet, M. R., Goissis, G., Vargas, S., & Selistre-de-Araujo, H. S. (2003). Cell adhesion and cytotoxicity studies over polyanionic collagen surfaces with variable negative charge and wettability. *Biomaterials*, 24, 131-137.
- 60. K. Webb, V. Hlady, and P.A. Tresco, *Relative importance of surface wettability and charged functional groups on NIH 3T3 fibroblast attachment, spreading, and cytoskeletal organization*.Journal of biomedical materials research, 1998. **41**(3): p. 422.
- 61. Thevenot, P., Hu, W. J., & Tang, L. P. (2008). Surface chemistry influences implant biocompatibility. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, *8*, 270-280.
- 62. Xu, L. C. (2007). Effect of surface wettability and contact time on protein adhesion to biomaterail surfaces. *Biomaterials*, *28*, 3273-3283.

- 63. Tamada, Y., & Ikada, Q. (1993). Effect of preadsorbed proteins on cell adhesion to polymer surfaces. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, *155*, 334-339.
- 64. B. Chehroudi and D. Brunette, *Effects of surface topography on cell behavior*. Encyclopedic handbook of biomaterials and bioengineering, 1995: p. 813-842.
- C.J. Bettinger, R. Langer, and J.T. Borenstein, *Engineering substrate topography at the micro-and nanoscale to control cell function*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2009. 48(30): p. 5406-5415.
- 66. Hatano, K., Inoue, H., Kojo, T., Tsujisawa, T., Uchiyama, C., & Uchida, Y. (1999). Effect of Surface Roughness on Proliferation and Alkaline Phosphatase Expression of Rat Calvarial Cells Cultured on Polystyrene. *Bone*, 25, 439-445.
- 67. P. Weiss, *Experiments on cell and axon orientation in vitro: the role of colloidal exudates in tissue organization*. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology, 1945.
 100(3): p. 353-386.
- 68. R. Flemming, C. Murphy, G. Abrams, S. Goodman, and P. Nealey, *Effects of synthetic micro-and nano-structured surfaces on cell behavior*. Biomaterials, 1999. **20**(6): p. 573-588.
- 69. A.M. Green, J.A. Jansen, J. Van der Waerden, and A.F. Von Recum, *Fibroblast response tomicrotextured silicone surfaces: texture orientation into or out of the surface*. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 1994. 28(5): p. 647-653.
- AGASKÁ, B., BAČÁKOVÁ, L., FILOVÁ, E., & BALÍK, K. (2010). Osteogenic Cells on Bio-Inspired Materials for Bone Tissue Engineering. *Physiological Research*, 59, 309-322.
- 71. The Role of the Microenvironment in Mammary Gland Development and Cancer, Polyak, K., & Kalluri, R. (2010). *The Role of the Microenvironment in Mammary Gland Development and Cancer. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2(11), a003244– a003244. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003244
- 72. Engler, A. J., Sen, S., Sweeney, H. L., & Discher, D. E. (2006). Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. *Cell* 126, 677-689.
- 73. R.G. Wells, *The role of matrix stiffness in regulating cell behavior*. Hepatology, 2008. **47**(4): p. 1394-1400.
- N.D. Leipzig and M.S. Shoichet, *The effect of substrate stiffness on adult neural stem cell behavior*. Biomaterials, 2009. **30**(36): p. 6867-6878
- 75. Jiang, F. X., Yurke, B., Schloss, R. S., Firesein, B. L., & Langrana, N. A. (2010). The relationship between fibroblast growth and the dynamic stiffness of a DNA
- 76. corsslinked hydrogel. Biomaterials, 31, 1199-1212.

- Saltzman, W. M. (2002). Delivery of Molecular Agents in Tissue Engineering. In *Tissue Engineering* (Vol. 17, pp. 23-30).
- 78. Hutmacher, D. W. (2001). Scaffold design and fabrication technologies for engineering tissues-state of the art and future perspectives. *Journal of biomaterials science*, *12*, 107-124
- 79. The Role of the Microenvironment in Mammary Gland Development and Cancer, Polyak, K., & Kalluri, R. (2010). The Role of the Microenvironment in Mammary Gland Development and Cancer. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2(11), a003244– a003244. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003244
- Varner, V. D. and Nelson, C. M. (2014). Cellular and physical mechanisms of branching morphogenesis. Development 141, 2750-2759.
- 81. Stirling, J.W.; Chandler, J.A. *The fine structure of the normal, resting terminal ductal-lobular unit of the female breast.* Virchows Arch. A Pathol. Anat. Histol. 1976, 372, 205–226.
- 82. Stirling, J.W.; Chandler, J.A. *The fine structure of ducts and subareolar ducts in the resting gland of the female breast.* Virchows Arch. A Pathol. Anat. Histol. 1977, 373, 119–132
- 83. Shao X, Goh JC, Hutmacher DW, Lee EH, Zigang G (2006) Repair of large articular osteochondral defects using hybrid scaffolds and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a rabbit model. Tissue Eng 12(6):1539–1551.
- 84. Li L, Xie T. Stem cell niche: structure and function. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2005;21:605-31.
- **85.** Boussadia, Kutsch, Hierholzer, Delmas, & Kemler, (2002)E-cadherin is a survival factor for the lactating mouse mammary gland. Mechanism of development, 115, 53-62.
- 86. Charles W.Daniel, Phyllis Strickland, Yael Friedmann, Expression and Functional Role of E- and P-Cadherins in Mouse Mammary Ductal Morphogenesis and Growth. *Developmental biology*, 169, 511-519
- **87.** Riordan J, Auerbach KG (1999) *in Breastfeeding and Human Lactation* (Jones and Barlett Publishers, Boston), pp xxii, 874.
- 88. Buckler L. Opportunities in regenerative medicine. *Bioprocess Int.* 2011; 2011(March):14–18.
- 89. Fisher MB, Mauck RL. *Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: Recent innovations and the transition to translation. Tissue Eng Part B Rev.* 2013;**19**(1):1–13.
- Huebsch N, Mooney DJ. Inspiration and application in the evolution of biomaterials. Nature. 2009;462(7272):426–432
- Hutmacher DW, Schantz JT, Lam CXF, Tan KC, Lim TC. State of the art and future directions of scaffold-based bone engineering from a biomaterials perspective. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2007; 1:245–60.

92. Hollister SJ. Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering. Nat Mater 2005; 4:518-24;
PMID:16003400; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nmat1421